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University Hall

Historical Background
 Brown University started as eight acres purchased from Chad Brown, an ancestor of the Brown family for which the University would later gain its name (Brown University). The plot had a “superb view and ample room” to develop a quiet place for intellectual growth (Brown University). It was no wonder that University Hall was founded in the center of this land, removed from the small, existing residential life at the foot of College Hill.
	Built in 1770, “the College Edifice” was the result of six years of committee meetings and fundraising (Mitchell). It’s first mention was in an entry of Hezeklah Smith, a corporation member, describing the second annual meeting of the university corporation in Newport and the subsequent subscribing of “$1,992 for the ‘building’ and for endowing the college” (Mitchell). It was modeled after Nassau Hall at Princeton (Gubits).
	Construction began with the first cornerstone, laid by John Brown (Brown University). The building was not ready for occupation until the following fall, when 22 students moved to campus, along with an initial library of 250 volumes (Brown University). Two floors existed at this time, with the remaining two to be completed in post-war renovation (Thatcher). 
The college was “regulated like a large family” in its youth, with all normal family activities taking place within the edifice (Fuchs The College Edifice). “Students lived, ate, studied, and worshiped in the College Edifice (nicknamed the ‘Old Brick’), under the vigilant eyes of the tutors and steward, who were required to lived there as well, and often of their professors, who were encouraged to do the same” (Phillips 33). There were also heavy regulations to discipline such a large, sometimes unruly family, including morning and evening prayers in the edifice’s chapel (Brown University). 
	This main building was less than a decade old before it was seized for barracks for American troops in the Revolutionary War until 1780 and again for a French hospital until 1772 (Gubits). When Brown finally attained its possession, University Hall was in dire need of renovations: a northern wall had been broken through for the passage of invalids, windows were broken and missing, the slate roof was in poor condition, and one room had been used for a horse stable (Mitchell).  President Manning petitioned the General Assembly for compensation to restore the building, which was not paid until 1800 and only accumulated to $2,779.13, but the proper renovations were made in 1782 and the College Edifice was once more open for university business (Mitchell). This was the first of many renovations of University Hall.
	The building was officially named “University Hall” in 1823, following the establishment of Hope College next door (Phillips 39). Following the establishment of Manning Hall in 1834 in a “classical revival style,” University Hall was deemed no longer fashionable, and rather than just replacing missing bricks, the administration decided to cover the walls with cement to match Manning (Mitchell). In 1850, the balcony of the former chapel was converted to adjust to the growing population of students and the subsequent need for classrooms. In 1854, partitions were installed in the upper corridor, nicknamed “Pandemonium,” to eliminate the pranks, which included cannonball rolling, and rule breaking that resulted from boys living side by side in a very long hallway (Fuchs The College Edifice). In 1883, the interior was remodeled, including enlargement of public spaces, the addition of six student rooms, the removal of the steward’s quarters, the removal of the red oak woodwork, new modern windows, gas light, steam heat, fire escapes, new chimneys, and most controversial of all, green paint on the exterior cement walls(Mitchell). Administrative offices also moved to Van Wickle Hall, where the Rockefeller Library is today to create additional educational space within University Hall (Mitchell).
	The 20th century brought additional change and renovation to the building. The US Weather Service was housed on the fourth floor for a few years starting in 1904 and the building was once again renovated in 1905, which included the removal of the green stucco from the exterior walls and revealed the original brickwork (Mitchell). The belfry was also raised and the windows replaced, all in attempt to replicate the original exterior as displayed in the famous print by David Augustus Leonard (Phillips Cover – See Image A). Josiah Carberry was first mentioned on a billboard in University Hall in the 1920s, and the building was also named a National Historic Landmark in 1963 at a ceremony presided over by President Faunce, Governor George Utter, and professor of art Dr. William MacDonald (Brown University). Students occupied the building twice, once in April 1975 to win concessions for minority recruitment and again in 1992 for financial aid reform (Phillips 88,106). The latter ended in the arrest of students when they refused to leave after a day of protest.


Archaeological Significance
	University Hall is significant to Brown University in particular not only because it is by far the oldest remaining building on campus, but also because it has served every major purpose of university life – a dining hall, a library, student dorms, a chapel, administrative offices, classrooms, and professors’ lodging. It provides the perfect snapshot of the university if we are only to excavate in one small area; it will tell us the most about Brown in possibly the shortest amount of time. 
	Also, the building has been renovated five times throughout the past couple centuries, as described above. In such a relatively short life of almost 250 years, University Hall has been changed and changed back drastically. It can be expected that textbook examples of “phasing” would be present. For example, the exterior walls have been changed from brick, to concrete, to green concrete, and then back to brick again. Just as the administration found the real bricks beneath the concrete in 1905, it is difficult to believe such a vibrant color as green disappeared completely (tools with green specks of paint, paint samples in the soil, etc. should still exist). Just the walls themselves tell a story 250 years old just by the appearance the university chose to convey.
	This brings me to another major area of significance. As stated above, Brown wished to match University Hall to the classical revivalist style of Manning Hall in 1834, overlooking the University’s oldest historical visual on campus. However, according to President William Faunce in his speech commemorating University Hall following the 1905 reconstruction, the University now viewed such a cover-up, no matter how identical it was to Manning Hall, as quite ugly and disrespectful to the University’s history:

For over seventy years University Hall has been hidden from the public view, disguised by the coat of dark-green stucco which the poor taste of a former generation imposed upon it. Gradually, however, this covering has fallen into decay, and the time came when it was necessary either to renew the plaster or to strip entirely away and uncover the original exterior (Brown University 15).

	It would be a worthwhile endeavor to examine such a change in attitude through historical documents. We certainly think Brown’s history is significant today, but in what ways has this changed over the last 250 years? How have the attitudes of students and professors changed towards history? It would be even more worthwhile to compare the historical record to the visual examples of change displayed in a building that still exists today. Again, it provides an ideal snapshot of the long, illustrious history of the University and it’s inhabitants’ views.
	University Hall is not only significant to Brown’s history but to the United States’ history as well. The American Revolution was physically present within the building for a few years as American and French soldiers lived there.  George Washington even visited the University and its’ edifice, eliciting the first display of tallow candles in the building’s windows, an act which continues today on Rhode Island Independence Day (Gubits). Within University Hall, Brown’s and America’s history collide, providing a larger sense of comparison.
Methods of Investigation
	I believe our excavation should center around one of two areas (See Image D). Firstly is a more difficult location that would not reveal as certain results. The well that is depicted in David Leonard’s print to the right would surely harbor artifacts of significance as wells tend to accumulate historical garbage that would reveal much about the varied times the University has seen. However, the well’s location is not certain. The only concrete evidence of the well’s existence at all is in fact in Leonard’s print. This could be reliable enough, however, as the print has been proved accurate in other locations when the concrete was removed to reveal the red bricks seen in the picture; the cupola and arches on the roof were copied to resemble the print in 1905’s renovation (See Image C). If the University thought the print was reliable enough to reconstruct the building in its image, the existence of the well might be reliable as well. Further proof would need to be obtained from plans and maps from the Planning Office.
	A second location of interest would be to the side of the front door, the door that faces down the hill. Since this is proven as the actual main entrance in centuries past due to its “superb view,” this would be the entryway that would yield the most debris. Trenches dug to either side of the door next to the raised stairs would benefit such an investigation.
	Further sources of interest historically that would compliment an archaeological study include the collection of correspondence of all the past Brown presidents in the John Hay Library, articles from the Brown Daily Herald’s online archive, and maps from the Planning Office. The presidents’ papers display the views of the administration at a given time in University Hall’s expansive history. For example, President Faunce’s speech in 1905, found above, supports the opinion that the green stucco removed from the walls was not beautiful to look upon and the university approved of the historical example the original brick walls displayed. President Manning’s correspondence, found in Aldridge’s Early History of Brown University; including the life, times, and Correspondence of President Manning, also proves valuable due to the letters discussing the poor state of the building after the Revolution and the goals the administration hoped the College Edifice would help achieve. 
	Student opinion is likewise found in The Brown Daily Herald. For example, in a 1962 issue, the paper describes the student dislike of funds spent on the renovation of the building in 1883, preferring that it just be torn down than attempt to restore its poor state (Gubits). However 80 years later, the paper reports several articles that resonate with pride over the establishment of University Hall as a National Historic Landmark. Sometime in this 80-year period, concrete examples of history grew in importance among the student population. The newspaper also reports useful small changes to University Hall in several segments entitled “Improvements About Campus,” such as electric lights 1900 and a new coat of paint in 1895. This would be a useful account if small renovations needed to be confirmed in the historical record.
[bookmark: _GoBack]	The John Hay will hopefully yield inventories for historical record comparisons with archaeological finds, such as those mentioned in The Encyclopedia Brunoniana that list materials such as timber needed for the initial construction project. Plans from the Planning Office will also hopefully assist in confirmation of key locations in and around University Hall, such as the supposed water well. 





 
	A) David Leonard’s engraving (circa 1795) of the College Edifice – Courtesy of Phillip’s Short History of Brown 



	
	





B) A sampler “Wrought in the 10th Year of her age” by Abigail Adams Hobart
Front of University Hall facing down College Hill – Courtesy of Phillips’ Short History of Brown








C) My own photo of University Hall layered with Leonard’s engraving to determine approximate location of the well









D) Google Earth Image of University Hall from above – (left) main entrance excavation area (right) probable location of well 










E) Main entrance excavation area






F) Possible well location according to above engraving. In between University Hall and Slater Hall facing the Main Green
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